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Financial Highlights
Years Ended March 31, 2015 and 2016
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Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Net sales  ¥282,575 ¥303,402 $2,694,038

Income before income taxes and minority interests  4,594 5,842 51,882

Net income  2,833 3,796 33,710

Total assets  111,906 104,446 927,426

Property, plant and equipment  29,008 28,034 248,933

Net assets  32,829 34,914 310,020

Japanese Yen U.S. dollars

Amounts per share of common stock:

Net income – basic  ¥  353.75 ¥  472.51 $  4.19

Diluted earnings per share, Summary of business results  350.53 425.73 3.78

Net assets  4,098.25 4,337.11 38.51

Cash dividends  80.00 90.00 0.79

Note: 
1) U.S. dollar amounts are translated for convenience only at the rate of ¥112.62 to U.S. $1.
2)  A share consolidation was implemented on common stock with a ratio of ten shares to one share on October 1, 2015. Net income per share and net 

assets per share are calculated based on the assumption that the share consolidation had been carried out at the beginning of the year ended 
March 31,2015.
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To Our Shareholders

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Summary of operating performance
The Japanese economy continued its moderate recovery trend 
during the current fiscal year. Fiscal stimulus measures and 
monetary policy by the government and the Bank of Japan led to 
improvements in corporate earnings and employment conditions 
and expansion of consumption by foreign visitors to Japan. 
However, slowdowns in China and other emerging economies and 
falling crude oil prices have led to weak consumer spending and 
stock prices worldwide since the beginning of the year, clouding 
the outlook for the Japanese economy.
In the meat industry, domestic beef showed lower shipments and 
better market conditions than the previous year. Although 
shipments of domestic pork were at about the same level as the 
previous year, market conditions worsened. Although shipments 
of domestic chicken remained at the same level as the previous 
year, market conditions have been following a downtrend since the 
beginning of the year but were better than the previous year on a 
full-year basis. Shipments of imported beef were at about the same 
level as the previous year while market conditions improved. 
Shipments of imported pork and chicken were higher than the 
previous year, but market conditions for imported pork worsened 
and remained at the same level as the previous year for imported 
chicken.
Amid these circumstances, net sales increased as a result of the 
Group’s efforts to cultivate existing customers for sales expansion, 
as well as focusing on sales of meat and processed meat products 
to new business partners. Overall profits grew due to an expansion 
of processed meat products and domestic meat, despite the impact 
of a plunge in the market for some imported meat.
As a result, net sales in this fiscal year was 303,402 million yen (up 
by 7.4% compared to last year), operating income was 3,914 
million yen (up by 1.7% compared to last year), and ordinary 
income was 5,561 million yen (up by 19.3% compared to last year). 
Net income attributable to owners of the parent amounted to 3,796 
million yen (up by 34.0% compared to last year).
The operating results of segment are as follows.

<Meat business>
Sales of the meat business totaled 300,341 million yen (up by 7.5% 
compared to last year) as a result of sales activities by the Group 
under a stable supply system, amid continued high meat prices in 
Japan due to the impact of factors such as a decrease in number of 

cattle in the market, an increase in worldwide demand for meat, 
and depreciation of the yen.
In addition, the operating results by segment are as follows.

Meat
Sales of domestic beef increased from the previous year as a result 
of aggressive sales to mass merchandise outlets and restaurants in 
spite of high prices stemming from a decrease in number of cattle 
in the market.
Sales of domestic pork were higher than in the previous year as a 
result of expanded sales under a stable collection/production 
system, in spite of a downward trend in prices resulting from 
factors such as a recovery in hog number in the market due to 
subsided impact of Porcine Epidemic Diarrhea (PED) and a decline 
in imported pork prices.
Sales of domestic chicken rose from the previous year thanks to 
strong orders from mass merchandise outlets due to the price 
advantage.
Sales of imported beef rose from the previous year as a result of 
high prices overall, despite a decline in imported volume from the 
previous year.
Sales of imported pork were lower than the previous year due to a 
decline in prices from the previous year while imported volume 
were at the same level as the previous year.
Sales of imported chicken increased from the previous year due to 
strong demand as raw material for processing, stemming from a 
sense of chicken being underpriced.
As a result, sales for the meat segment totaled 247,663 million yen 
(up by 7.4% compared to last year).

Processed meat
Sales of processed meat were higher than in the previous year, 
amounting to 37,910 million yen (up by 7.6% compared to last 
year), as a result of expanded sales, mainly of roast beef, roast pork 
and hamburgers, to mass merchandise outlets, restaurants and 
convenience stores.

Ham and sausage
Sales of ham and sausage were higher than in the previous year, 
amounting to 13,030 million yen, (up by 10.6% compared to last 
year), as a result of an expansion of production and sales volume 
using OEM partners.

Other
Sales from other products we handled were 1,737 million yen 
(down by 4.8% compared to last year).

<Other businesses>
Sales from other business amounted to 3,061 million yen (up by 
0.1% compared to last year).
Summary of Facility Investment
To respond to the diversifying needs and tougher sales 
competition, the Company made facility investments of 2,109 
million yen during this fiscal year, mainly in the meat business. 
In the meat business, we made facility investments of 1,541 million 
yen mainly for the upgrade of the manufacturing facilities of the 
Tochigi Plant of Lohmeyer Corporation.
In other business sections, facility investments of 567 million yen 
were made mainly for renovation work for refrigeration facilities 
of Starzen Tokyo Logistics Center Co., Ltd.
No major facilities were retired or sold.

Issues for the future
In the domestic environment, demand for meat is expected to 
increase slightly due to declining birthrate and aging population. 
In addition, the pattern of meat consumption is expected to shift 
toward consuming prepared food and processed food that were 
purchased amid a decrease in home cooking.
Meat consumption worldwide is expected to grow in the future, as 
demand rises further overseas, mainly in Asia.

Tsuyoshi Nakatsuhama 
President
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Under such an environment, the Company will tackle the 
following issues.

1. Reinforcement of food processing function
Demand is growing for highly processed foods that require little 
cooking due to factors such as changes in the family structure and 
aging population. In order to meet the various needs of customers, 
the Company will reinforce and enhance the processing function 
and enhance sales to channels such as retailers, commercial use 
and restaurants, in addition to carrying out conventional meat 
sales.

2. Reinforcement of meat procurement function
The Company will strengthen partnerships and cooperative 
relationships with domestic production bases in order to realize 
the stable supply of domestic meat. In particular, the Company 
will further strengthen partnerships with producers to procure 
products, amid a continuing decline in Japanese cattle production 
in recent years. In addition, the Company will strengthen its 
procurement base for imported meat, as demand is expected to 
further grow as a result of the Japan-Australia Economic 
Partnership Agreement (EPA) and the Trans-Pacific Partnership 
(TPP) coming into force.

3. Initiatives for safety and security
The Group has been promoting the adoption of SQF (a globally 
recognized international standard to secure food safety and 
quality). At the end of March 2016, 54 offices of the Group had 
received the certification. We will continue taking initiatives to 
deliver safe and secure products to customers going forward.

4. Basic policies on persons who control the Company’s financial 
and business policies
The following is a summary of “Basic policies on persons who 
control financial and business policies of the Company,” as defined 
in paragraph 3 of Article 118 of Ordinance for Enforcement of the 
Company Law.

(1) Summary of the Basic Policy
The Company understands that the final decisions as to whether to 
proceed with a large-scale purchase of the Company shares should 
be left up to the shareholders’ judgment. It shall therefore be 
necessary to provide shareholders with sufficient information and 
time to study the large-scale purchases in order to allow the 
shareholders to make proper judgments on the situation. Further, 
the Company does not necessarily hold a negative view on an 
attempt for large-scale purchases of the Company’s shares, in 
general. Among real large-scale purchases that occur in the capital 
market, however, there are cases where:

1)  A purchaser planning to make a large-scale purchase of the 
Company’s shares clearly has no intention to manage the 
Company seriously nor reasonably.

2)  A purchaser may force shareholders to sell their shares under 
disadvantageous conditions, in effect.

3)  A purchaser may not provide sufficient information or 
sufficient time to allow the shareholders to fully study or 
properly judge a purchase proposal.

4)  A purchaser has not presented a purchase proposal or business 
plan to the Company’s Board of Directors, nor has not 
provided opportunities for negotiation or sufficient time for 
consideration whose proposals do not have any intention to 
secure or enhance corporate value or common interests of the 
shareholders.

Persons carrying out such purchases shall be considered 
inappropriate in the light of the Company’s basic policies on the 
control of the Company. To secure corporate value and the 
common interests of the shareholders, the Company thinks that it 
will be necessary to take some kind of defensive measures to 
prevent such inappropriate purchasers from carrying out large-
scale purchases.

(2) Initiatives to realize basic policies on corporate control
Aiming to strengthen its responses to changes in the business 
environment as well as to create customer value and enhance its 
corporate value, the Group has formulated a Medium-Term 
Management Plan for three years starting from 2016. Based on 
such initiative, the Group seeks to further enhance the common 
interests of the shareholders and seeks to implement dividend 
policies with an emphasis on shareholder interests by giving due 

consideration to the enhancement of the financial position of the 
Group and the improvement of internal reserves.

(3) Initiatives to prevent unsuitable parties from taking control of 
Starzen’s financial and business policy decisions, in light of 
Starzen’s basic policy on corporate control
With the intention of preventing unsuitable parties from taking 
control of Starzen’s financial and business policy decisions in light 
of Starzen’s basic policy on corporate control, and at the same time 
in order to ensure and enhance the corporate value and the 
common interests of the shareholders, extension of the application 
of the existing “Countermeasures against large-scale purchases of 
the Company’s shares (hereinafter referred to as “the Plan”)” was 
approved at the Board of Directors’ meeting held on May 13, 2013. 
The Plan was approved at the 74th ordinary general meeting of 
shareholders held on June 27, 2013.
Purchases of the Company’s shares subject to the Plan are 
purchases of the Company’s shares that aim to or result in the 
holding of 20% or more of the voting rights by a related 
shareholder group. Hereinafter, such purchase shall be referred to 
as a “Large-scale Purchase,” and a person conducting a Large-scale 
Purchase shall be referred to as a “Large-scale Purchaser.”
Under the terms of the Plan, specific rules related to the supply of 
information and the consideration period applicable to Large-scale 
purchases (hereinafter referred to as the “Large-scale Purchase 
rules”) are as follows.
1) The Large-scale Purchaser must provide the Board of Directors 
with sufficient and necessary information in advance of their 
purchase, 2) Once this necessary information has been submitted, 
the Board of Directors should determine an evaluation period 
during which the Board of Directors can evaluate or review. This 
evaluation period shall be up to sixty (60) days in the case of a cash 
tender offer in Japanese yen for all of the Company’s shares, or up 
to ninety (90) days in the case of any other form of Large-scale 
Purchase. A Large-scale Purchase shall commence only after the 
passage of this period. However, in the event the Company takes 
steps to confirm shareholders’ intention regarding the contents of 
the countermeasures, the Large-scale Purchase cannot be 
commenced until the procedure to implement or not to implement 
the countermeasures has been completed.
If the Large-scale Purchaser complies with the Large-scale 
Purchase rules, the Board of Directors will not implement 
defensive measures against the Large-scale Purchase in principle. 
If the Large-scale Purchaser does not comply with the Large-scale 
Purchase rules, or if the Large-scale Purchaser complies with the 
Large-scale Purchase rules but the Board of Directors judges that 
the Large-scale Purchase will irreparably harm the Company or 
materially damage the Company’s corporate value and, 
consequently the common interests of its shareholders, the Board 
of Directors may, as an exception, take necessary and appropriate 
countermeasures authorized by the Company Law, other relevant 
laws or regulations, or the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, 
such as the free allocation of stock acquisition rights in order to 
protect the Company’s corporate value or the common interests of 
its shareholders.
In the event that such countermeasures are to be implemented, in 
order to guarantee their objectivity and rationality, the Board of 
Directors of the Company shall, in advance of their 
implementation, consult an Independent Committee comprised of 
outside corporate auditors who remain independent from the 
Company executives who perform the business of the Company or 
external knowledgeable persons, and this Independent Committee 
shall provide recommendations to the Board of Directors within 
the evaluation period regarding the implementation of 
countermeasures. The Board of Directors shall place the highest 
value on the recommendations made by the Independent 
Committee.
This Plan will remain in effect and force until the closing of the 
Company’s 77th ordinary general meeting of shareholders to be 
held in June 30, 2016. However, the Plan can be abolished 
immediately if the shareholders resolve to cancel the Plan at the 
Company’s general meeting of shareholders, or any resolution, etc. 
to cancel the Plan has been made at the Board of Directors’ 
meeting of the Company.

(4) The Plan complies with the basic policies and is in conformity 
with the Company’s corporate value, and consequently with the 
common interests of the shareholders, and there is no intention 
within the Plan to maintain the position of the Company’s 
executives.
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(2) Fluctuations of the meat market
The demand and supply of meat, our main product, is vulnerable 
to collapse as a result of various factors such as changes in global 
demand, delays in the growth of livestock by abnormal weather 
or natural disasters, decrease in livestock due to the outbreaks of 
livestock disease, or stagnant consumption. Such a collapse has 
the risk of leading to a decrease in the volume of products we 
handle and a decline in sales prices as a result of fluctuations in 
the domestic and overseas meat markets.

(3) Official regulations

1)  The business activities of the Group may be restricted as a 
result of regulation of imports and movements following the 
outbreak of livestock diseases, such as BSE (Bovine 
Spongiform Encephalopathy), foot-and-mouth disease, and 
new types of influenza.

2)  The activities of the Group may be restricted as a result of the 
implementation of regulations such as customs-related 
safeguards.

3)  The Group strictly checks quality control and quality 
indications frequently, as the Group’s products are subject to 
legal regulations related to quality indication. However, the 
activities of the Group may be restricted as a result of the 
enforcement of new regulations.

(4) Foreign exchange risks
Foreign exchange-rate fluctuations may affect business results, as 
the Group imports some raw materials and goods from overseas.

(5) Impairment risks of non-current assets
The Group may post an impairment loss if the expected return on 
non-current assets held by the Group cannot be obtained due to 
unexpected changes in the economic climate and the market 
environment, and the asset value declines.

(6) Defects of products
The Group manufactures various products with the utmost care in 
accordance with criteria on food sanitation, safety and security. 
However, there is no guarantee that all products will be free of 
defects and any risks of recall in the future. Defects of products 
that bring about large-scale recall of products or product liability 
compensations would entail large costs and give a strong impact 
on the valuation of the Group. This, in turn, could decrease the 
sales and adversely influence the business results of the Group.

(7) Risks pertaining to food safety and security
In order to ensure “safety” and “quality” of food, facilities at 54 
locations have currently obtained SQF (a globally recognized 
certification standard to secure food safety and quality) and 
established a system for supplying safe and secure foods. We will 
strengthen the initiatives above as a means of ensuring safety and 
quality in the future as well. However, the occurrence of events 
beyond the scope of initiatives, such as quality problems 
concerning the public at large, may adversely influence the 
business results of the Group.

(8) Risks pertaining to compliance
The Group has developed a compliance system, including 
establishment of the Compliance Committee, and takes initiatives 
to foster and raise compliance awareness, such as familiarizing all 
officers and employees with the code of conduct and corporate 
behavior guidelines common to the Group.
However, the occurrence of compliance-related problems, 
including violations of laws and regulations by individual officers 
and employees, may affect the business results and financial 
position of the Group.

1) The Plan fully satisfies the requirements of the Guidelines for 
Takeover Defense Measures
The Plan satisfies the three basic principles set forth in the 
“Guidelines Regarding Takeover Defenses for the Purpose of the 
Protection and Enhancement of Corporate Value and 
Shareholders’ Common Interests,” jointly released by the Ministry 
of Economy, Trade and Industry and the Ministry of Justice on 
May 27, 2005. The principles are: 1) the principle of the protection 
and enhancement of corporate value and shareholders’ common 
interest; 2) the principle of prior disclosure and shareholders’ 
intentions; and 3) the principle of securing necessity and 
suitability.
The Plan also reflects the report, “Takeover Defense Measures in 
Light of Recent Environmental Changes,” released on June 30, 
2008 by the Corporate Value Study Group of the Ministry of 
Economy, Trade and Industry.
2) The Plan is introduced with the purpose of securing and 
enhancing the common interests of shareholders
In the event of a Large-scale Purchase of the Company’s shares, 
the Plan allows the shareholders to make a decision of whether or 
not to accept such a purchase, or provides sufficient information 
and time to the Board of Directors to devise alternate proposals 
and to negotiate with the Purchaser on behalf of the shareholders. 
Thus the Plan has been introduced with the purpose of securing 
and enhancing the Company’s corporate value and, consequently, 
the common interests of shareholders.
3) The Plan reflects the shareholders’ intention
The Plan has been approved by the shareholders at the general 
meeting of shareholders and thus reflects the shareholders’ 
intention.
Additionally, even within the effective period, if a resolution to 
cancel the Plan is passed at the general meeting of shareholders, it 
will be cancelled immediately, in accordance with the intention of 
the shareholders.
4) The Plan emphasizes the decision of independent outsiders and 
information disclosure
Under the Plan, the implementation of countermeasures shall be 
put before the Independent Committee that is comprised of 
members who remain independent from the Company’s 
executives who execute business of the Company and the highest 
value shall be placed on the committee’s recommendations. 
Additionally, an overview of such decisions shall be disclosed, as 
necessary, to the shareholders, and procedures are in place, which 
secure transparent implementation of the Plan in accordance with 
the Company’s corporate value and, consequently, the common 
interests of shareholders.
5) The Plan is not designed to be a dead-hand or slow-hand 
takeover defense measure
The Plan may be cancelled at any time by the Company’s Board of 
Directors, which comprises Directors elected at the Company’s 
general meeting of shareholders. Consequently, the Plan is not a 
“dead-hand type takeover defense measure” (a takeover defense 
measure in which the triggering of the measure cannot be 
prevented even if a majority of the members of the Board of 
Directors are replaced). The Plan is not a “slow-hand type 
takeover defense measure” (a takeover defense measure in which 
the triggering of the measure takes more time to prevent due to 
the inability to replace all of the Directors at one time) either, as 
the Company does not adopt staggered boards.

Business Risks
The Group’s results of operations, stock prices, and financial 
position, etc. may be influenced by the following risks.
The outlooks for the future mentioned herein are the judgments of 
the Group made as of the end of the consolidated fiscal year.

(1) Impact of disasters and power outages, etc.
The production, processing and transportation of meat, which the 
Group mainly handles, may be affected if a large earthquake, fire, 
a large-scale power outage, and other disasters occur. This may 
upset the balance of domestic supply and demand and lead to 
fluctuations of the meat market, and may significantly affect the 
Group’s business results. Also, if radioactive contamination or a 
similar disaster resulting from a nuclear accident occurs, a 
decrease in sales volume and a decline in sales prices stemming 
from damage to meat caused by rumors, etc., may adversely affect 
the business results of the Group.

Tsuyoshi Nakatsuhama 
President
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
As of March 31, 2016

Millions of yen

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars 

(Note 4)

2015 2016 2016

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Notes and accounts payable-trade 
(Note 5)  ¥  14,716 ¥  12,889 $114,450

Short-term loans payable  
(Notes 5, 8, 9 and 18)  18,786 9,885 87,776

Current portion of long-term loans 
payable (Notes 5 and 9)  6,637 8,720 77,432

Lease obligations (Note 15)  450 387 3,439
Income taxes payable  925 1,254 11,142
Provision for bonuses  1,199 1,234 10,958
Other  6,199 6,265 55,635

Total current liabilities  48,917 40,637 360,835
Non-current liabilities:

Bonds payable (Note 5 and 9)  3,400 4,400 39,069
Convertible bond-type bonds with 

subscription rights to shares  
4,000 4,000

35,517
Long-term loans payable  

(Notes 5 and 9)  19,108 16,297 144,714
Lease obligations (Note 15)  632 894 7,945
Net defined benefit liability  

(Note 11)  1,776 1,834
16,288

Other  1,241 1,467 13,033
Total non-current liabilities  30,159 28,894 256,570
Total liabilities  79,076 69,532 617,405

Contingencies and commitments 
(Notes 17 and 18)

NET ASSETS
Shareholders’ equity:

Capital stock
Authorized: 20,000,000 shares
Issued:          8,775,921 shares  9,899 9,899 87,904

Capital surplus  11,087 9,851 87,477
Retained earnings  11,980 15,503 137,664
Treasury stock  (1,450) (1,380) (12,260)

Total shareholders’ equity 31,516 33,874 300,786
Accumulated other comprehensive 

income
                                        

Valuation difference on 
available-for-sale securities  1,293 1,198 10,643

Deferred gains or losses on 
hedges  19 (51) (453)

Foreign currency translation 
adjustments  (16) (53) (472)

Remeasurements of defined 
benefit plans (Note 11)  54 (71) (633)

Total accumulated other 
comprehensive income  1,351 1,022 9,083

Non-controlling interests (38) 17 151
Total net assets  32,829 34,914 310,020
Total liabilities and net assets ¥111,906 ¥104,446 $927,426

Millions of yen

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars 

(Note 4)

2015 2016 2016

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and deposits  
(Notes 5, 6 and 9)  ¥  10,336 ¥  12,689 $112,673

Notes and accounts  
receivable-trade (Note 5)  27,567 27,274 242,182

Merchandise and finished goods 
(Note 13)  22,509 18,001 159,845

Work in process  318 289 2,569
Raw materials and supplies  1,840 1,922 17,074
Deferred tax assets (Note 10)  801 770 6,837
Other  8,081 3,916 34,774
Allowance for doubtful accounts  (56) (47) (425)

Total current assets  71,398 64,816 575,532

Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment 

(Notes 9 and 16)  
Buildings and structures  27,405 27,238 241,861

Accumulated depreciation  (14,608) (15,001) (133,201)
Buildings and structures, net  12,796 12,237 108,659

Machinery, equipment and 
vehicles  14,123 14,219 126,262

Accumulated depreciation  (9,523) (9,902) (87,931)
Machinery, equipment and 

vehicles, net  4,599 4,316 38,331
Land  10,334 10,028 89,045
Leased assets (Note 15)  2,357 2,439 21,665

Accumulated depreciation  (1,374) (1,226) (10,887)
Leased assets, net  983 1,213 10,777

Construction in progress  11 — —
Other  1,368 1,374 12,205
Accumulated depreciation  (1,085) (1,135) (10,085)

Other, net  282 238 2,119
Total property, plant and  

equipment  29,008 28,034 248,933

Intangible assets
Goodwill  941 67 603
Leased assets (Note 15)  5 4 38
Other  347 316 2,812

Total intangible assets  1,295 388 3,453

Investments and other assets
Investment securities  

(Notes 5, 7 and 9)  7,882 8,940 79,386

Real estate for rent (Note 12)  1,448 1,407 12,495
Long-term loans receivable  125 91 816
Deferred tax assets (Note 10)  66 81 723
Other  836 798 7,092
Allowance for doubtful 

accounts  (205) (157) (1,396)
Total investments and 

other assets  10,154 11,162 99,117
Total non-current assets  40,459 39,586 351,504

Deferred assets
Bond issuance costs  47 43 389

Total deferred assets  47 43 389
Total assets  ¥111,906 ¥104,446 $927,426

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Income
For the year ended March 31, 2016

Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S. dollars (Note 4)

2015 2016 2016
Net sales  ¥282,575 ¥303,402 $2,694,038
Cost of sales (Note 13)  258,166 278,462 2,472,585

Gross profit  24,409 24,940 221,452
Selling, general and administrative expenses (Note 14)  20,558 21,025 186,694

Operating income  3,850 3,914 34,758

Non-operating income:
Interest income  38 37 329
Dividend income  76 80 712
Real estate rent (Note 12)  484 476 4,232
Insurance and dividend income  240 187 1,665
Equity in earnings of associates  413 1,242 11,035
Reversal of allowance for doubtful accounts  50 11 103
Other  325 337 2,996

Total non-operating income  1,628 2,373 21,076

Non-operating expenses:
Interest expenses  458 402 3,574
Expenses for real estate rent (Note 12)  183 180 1,602
Amortization of bond issuance costs  14 16 144
Other  159 127 1,130

Total non-operating expenses  815 726 6,452
Ordinary income  4,663 5,561 49,382

Extraordinary income:
Gain on sales of non-current assets  189 42 379
Gain on sales of investment securities (Note 7)  1 — —
Subsidy income  34 536 4760

Total extraordinary income  225 578 5,139

Extraordinary loss:
Loss on sales of non-current assets  73 112 995
Loss on retirement of non-current assets  15 80 719
Impairment loss (Notes 12 and 16)  188 4 36
Loss on valuation of investments in subsidiaries 

and associates  17 — —
Loss on settlement  — 100 887

Total extraordinary loss  294 297 2,638
Profit before income taxes  4,594 5,842 51,882

Income taxes (Note 10):
Current  1,351 1,895 16,829
Deferred  397 147 1,306

Total income taxes  1,749 2,042 18,135
Profit  2,845 3,800 33,746

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests  11 3 35
Profit attributable to owners of parent  ¥    2,833    ¥    3,796  $     33,710

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended March 31, 2016

Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S. dollars (Note 4)

2015 2016 2016
Profit  ¥2,845 ¥3,800 $33,746
Other comprehensive income:

Valuation difference on available-for-sale securities  566 (93) (833)
Deferred gains or losses on hedges  4 (72) (641)
Foreign currency translation adjustments  92 (26) (232)
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans  (17) (49) (436)
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 

accounted for using the equity method  
64 (86) (770)

Total other comprehensive income (Note 23)  709 (328) (2,914)
Comprehensive income  ¥3,555 ¥3,472 $30,831
Comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent  ¥3,543 ¥3,468 $30,796
Non-controlling interests  ¥     11 ¥       3 $       35

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended March 31, 2016

Millions of yen
Shareholders’ equity Accumulated other comprehensive income

Number of 
shares issued

Capital 
stock

Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
stock

Total 
shareholders’  

equity

Valuation 
difference 

on available-
for-sale 

securities

Deferred 
gains or 
losses on 
hedges

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Remeasurements 
of defined benefit 

plans

Total 
accumulated 

other 
comprehensive 

income

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total net 

assets
Balance at April 1, 2014  87,759,216 ¥9,899 ¥11,086 ¥  9,410 (¥1,521) ¥28,874 ¥   710 ¥16 (¥110) ¥24 ¥   641 (¥50) ¥29,465

Cumulative effects on changes 
in accounting policies  (68) (68) (68)

Restarted balance as of April 1, 2014  87,759,216 9,899 11,086 9,341 (1,521) 28,805 710 16 (110) 24 641 (50) 29,396
Dividends from surplus  87,759,216 (570) (570) (570)
Net income  2,833 2,833 2,833
Purchase of treasury stock  (12) (12) (12)
Disposal of treasury shares  0 83 84 84
Change in scope of consolidation  78 78 78
Changes in scope of associates accounted 

for using the equity method  298 298 298

Net changes of items other  
than shareholders’ equity  583 2 93 29 709 11 721

Balance at March 31, 2015  87,759,216 ¥9,899 ¥11,087 ¥11,980 (¥1,450) ¥31,516 ¥1,293 ¥19 (¥ 16) ¥54 ¥1,351 (¥38) ¥32,829
Cumulative effects on changes 

in accounting policies  (1,241) 379 (861) (861)
Restarted balance as of April 1, 2015  87,759,216 ¥9,899 ¥9,846 ¥12,359 (¥1,450) ¥30,655 ¥1,293 ¥19 (¥16) ¥54 ¥1,351 (¥38) ¥31,967

Dividends from surplus  (652) (652) (652)
Net income  3,796 3,796 3,796
Purchase of treasury stock  (15) (15) (15)
Disposal of treasury shares  0 84 84 84
Change in scope of consolidation  
Changes in scope of associates accounted 

for using the equity method  
Acquisition of consolidated subsidiaries 

Increase or decrease in equity  5 5 5
Net changes of items other  

than shareholders' equity  (94) (70) (36) (125) (328) 55 (272)
Share consolidation  (78,983,295)

Balance at March 31, 2016  8,775,921 ¥9,899 ¥9,851 ¥15,503 (¥1,380) ¥33,874 ¥1,198 (¥51) (¥ 53) (¥71) ¥1,022 ¥17 ¥34,914

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 4)
Shareholders’ equity Accumulated other comprehensive income

Capital 
stock

Capital 
surplus

Retained 
earnings

Treasury 
stock

Total 
shareholders’  

equity

Valuation 
difference 

on available-
for-sale 

securities

Deferred 
gains or 
losses on 
hedges

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
adjustments

Remeasurements 
of defined benefit 

plans

Total 
accumulated 

other 
comprehensive 

income

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total net 

assets
Balance at March 31, 2015  $87,904 $98,446 $106,376 ($12,877) $279,850 $11,484 $174 ($146) $484 $11,997 ($343) $291,503

Cumulative effects on changes 
in accounting policies  ($11,019) $3,369 ($7,649) — ($7,649)

Restarted balance as of April 1, 2015  $87,904 $87,427 $109,746 ($12,877) $272,200 $11,484 $174 ($146) $484 $11,997 ($343) $283,854
Dividends from surplus  (5,792) (5,792) (5,792)
Net income  33,710 33,710 33,710
Purchase of treasury stock  (134) (134) (134)
Disposal of treasury stock  1 750 751 751
Change in scope of consolidation  
Changes in scope of associates accounted 

for using the equity method  
Share consolidation  49 49 49
Net changes of items other  

than shareholders’ equity  (841) (628) (326) (1,118) (2,914) 495 (2,419)
Balance at March 31, 2016  $87,904 $87,477 $137,664 ($12,260) $300,786 $10,643 ($453) ($472) ($633) $  9,083 $151 $310,020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended March 31, 2016

Millions of yen
Thousands of 

U.S. dollars (Note 4)

2015 2016 2016
Cash flows from operating activities:

Profit before income taxes  ¥  4,594 ¥  5,842 $  51,882
Adjustments:

Depreciation  3,009 2,744 24,369
Impairment loss  188 4 36
Increase (decrease) in provision for bonuses  75 34 303
Increase (decrease) in net defined benefit liability  (42) 57 510
Increase (decrease) in allowance for doubtful accounts  (107) (55) (490)
Amortization of goodwill  130 12 109
Interest and dividend income  (114) (117) (1,042)
Equity in (earnings) losses of associates  (413) (1,242) (11,035)
Gain on sales of investment securities  (1) — —
Loss on valuation of investments in subsidiaries and associates  17 — —
Interest expenses  458 402 3,574
Loss on retirement of non-current assets  15 80 719
Gain on sales of non-current assets  (116) 69 616
Decrease (increase) in notes and accounts receivable-trade  (3,458) 263 2,342
Decrease (increase) in inventories  (11,374) 4,454 39,555
Subsidy income  (34) (536) (4,760)
Loss on settlement  — 100 887
Decrease (increase) in advance payments  (857) 3,831 34,021
Increase (decrease) in notes and accounts payable-trade  2,264 (1,798) (15,969)
Other, net  964 951 8,447

Subtotal  (4,801) 15,099 134,078
Proceeds from subsidy income  54 167 1,490
Interest and dividend income received  284 178 1,583
Interest expenses paid  (457) (399) (3,544)
Settlement paid  — (100) (887)
Income taxes paid  (973) (1,581) (14,042)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities  (5,893) 13,365 118,676
Cash flows from investing activities:

Payments into time deposits  (265) (240) (2,131)
Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits  242 240 2,131
Purchases of investment securities  (40) (61) (542)
Proceeds from sales of investment securities  16 0 0
Purchases of non-current assets  (2,572) (1,830) (16,257)
Proceeds from sales of non-current assets  621 468 4,157
Net decrease (increase) in short-term loans receivable  4 47 417
Collection of long-term loans receivable  94 47 417
Purchases of shares of subsidiaries  (1) — —
Other, net  (105) (19) (173)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  (2,006) (1,349) (11,979)
Cash flows from financing activities:

Net increase (decrease) in short-term loans payable  5,437 (8,900) (79,035)
Proceeds from long-term loans payable  8,538 6,550 58,160
Repayments of long-term loans payable  (6,987) (7,278) (64,629)
Repayments of lease obligations  (569) (428) (3,801)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible bond-type bonds  

with subscription rights to shares  3,981 — —
Proceeds from issuance of bonds  — 987 8,770
Redemption of bonds  (700) — —
Purchases of treasury stock  (12) (15) (134)
Proceeds from sales of treasury stock  100 108 960
Cash dividends paid  (568) (649) (5,770)
Payments from changes in ownership interests in  subsidiaries  

that do not result in change in scope of consolidation  — (10) (88)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  9,221 (9,636) (85,568)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  67 (26) (235)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  1,389 2,352 20,892
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  8,595 10,109 89,769
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents resulting from 

change of scope of consolidation  124 — —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 6)  ¥10,109 ¥12,462 $110,662

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Basis of Presenting Consolidated Financial 
Statements:

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of 
Starzen Company Limited (“the Company”) and its 
consolidated subsidiaries (collectively, “the Group”) are 
prepared on the basis of accounting principles generally 
accepted in Japan, which are different in certain respects as to 
the application and disclosure requirements of International 
Financial Reporting Standards, and are compiled from the 
consolidated financial statements prepared by the Company as 
required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of 
Japan. In preparing the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements, certain reclassifications have been made to the 
consolidated financial statements issued domestically in order 
to present them in a form which is more familiar to readers 
outside Japan.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies:

(a)  Principles of consolidation and accounting for investments in 
associates —

The accompanying consolidated financial statements as of 
March 31, 2016 consist of the accounts of the Company and its 
20 subsidiaries, including 5 core operating companies (Starzen 
Meat Processor Co., Ltd., Starzen Sales Co., Ltd., Starzen 
International Co., Ltd., Zenchiku Sales Co., Ltd. and Lohmeyer 
Corporation). 

During the year ended March 31, 2016, Starzen Ko-iki Sales 
Co., previously a consolidated subsidiary , was merged by 
Starzen Sales Co. and was excluded from the scope of 
consolidation. 

Also, Aoki Food Sales Co., previously a consolidated 
subsidiary , was merged by Aoki Food Co. and was excluded 
from the scope of consolidation during the year ended March 
31,2016.

Tokyo Meat Safety Inspection Center Co. was merged by 
Starzen Co. and was excluded from the scope of consolidation 
during the year ended March 31,2016.

Omitama Farm Co. was excluded from the scope of 
consolidation during the year ended March 31,2016 because of 
liquidation.

All significant inter-company transactions have been 
eliminated. Certain consolidated subsidiaries are consolidated 
on the basis of their respective fiscal years ended December 31 
or January 31. Significant differences in inter-company 
transactions arising from the use of the different fiscal year-
ends are appropriately adjusted in consolidation. Investments 
in companies over which the Company has the ability to 
exercise significant influence (mainly ownership interests 
between 20% and 50%), except for those deemed to be 
immaterial, are accounted for using the equity method. At 
March 31, 2016, there were seven companies to which the 
equity method was applied.

Differences between the cost and the underlying net equity at 
fair value of investments in consolidated subsidiaries and in 
companies accounted for by the equity method (goodwill) are 
amortized by the straight-line method over periods not 
exceeding 20 years. However, immaterial amounts of goodwill 
and negative goodwill are charged or credited to income in the 
year of acquisition.

(b) Cash and cash equivalents —
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cash in 
banks which can be withdrawn at any time and short-term 
investments with a maturity of three months or less when 
purchased which can easily be converted to cash and are 
subject to little risk of change in value.

(c) Inventories —
Merchandise and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost 
or net realizable value, cost being determined principally by 
the specific identification method or the average cost method. 
Raw materials, work-in-process and supplies are stated at the 
lower of cost or net realizable value, cost being determined 
mainly by the first-in first-out method. 

(d) Short-term investments and investment securities —
Securities other than equity securities issued by subsidiaries 
and associates are classified into three categories: trading, held-
to-maturity or other securities. At March 31, 2015 and 2016, the 
Company did not have any trading securities or held-to-
maturity securities.

Marketable securities classified as available-for-sale other 
securities are carried at fair value with changes in unrealized 
gains or losses, net of the applicable income tax, included 
directly in net assets. Non-marketable securities classified as 
available-for-sale other securities are carried at cost.

Cost of securities sold is determined by the moving average 
method and is reflected in the consolidated statement of 
income.

(e) Allowance for doubtful accounts —
Allowance for doubtful accounts is provided based on past 
experience for normal receivables and on an estimate of the 
collectability of receivables form companies in financial 
difficulty.

(f)  Property, plant and equipment and real estate for rent, 
excluding leased assets —

Property, plant and equipment and real estate for rent are 
carried at cost. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
and real estate for rent is computed principally by the 
declining-balance method based on the estimated useful lives, 
except for certain buildings owned by the Company and 
domestic consolidated subsidiaries acquired on or after April 1, 
1998 and assets in the Chiba Plant, which are depreciated by 
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives of the 
respective assets are as follows:
Non-current assets Estimated useful lives
Buildings  Mainly 31 years
Machinery  Mainly 10 years
Real estate for rent (Buildings)  Mainly 38 years

(g)  Amortization —
Amortization of intangible assets is computed using the 
straight-line method. Bond issuance costs included in deferred 
assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the 
bond repayment period.

(h) Provision for bonuses —
In order to prepare for payments of bonuses to employees, 
provision for bonuses are provided based on the amounts 
expected to be paid that are applicable to the fiscal year.
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(i) Retirement benefits —
(1) Allocation of retirement benefit obligation 
In calculating the retirement benefit obligation, a benefit 
formula basis is used to allocate the retirement benefit 
obligation to the estimated years of service of the eligible 
employees.

(2) Method for amortizing actuarial gain or loss 
Actuarial gain or loss is amortized in the year following the 
year in which the gain or loss is recognized by the straight-line 
method over periods (five years) not exceeding the average 
remaining service years of the employees at the time of 
occurrence.

(3) Application of simplified method at smaller-sized companies
Certain consolidated subsidiaries adopt the simplified method 
for calculating net retirement benefit liability and the 
retirement benefit cost. In the case of the termination allowance 
plan, the retirement benefit obligations are recorded as the 
amount to be paid if all eligible employees voluntarily 
terminated their employment as of the fiscal year-end. In the 
case of the corporate pension plan, the retirement benefit 
obligations are recorded as the amount of the actuarial liability 
calculated under the latest pension funding program.

(j) Hedge accounting —
The Company utilizes derivative transactions for the purpose 
of hedging its exposure to fluctuations in foreign currency 
exchange rates. In accordance with the Company’s policy, these 
derivatives are utilized solely for hedging purposes and the 
Company does not hold financial instruments for trading or 
speculation.

The Company has entered into forward foreign exchange 
contracts with banks in order to hedge against fluctuations in 
foreign currency exchange rates on payables denominated in 
foreign currencies. As these foreign exchange contracts meet 
the criteria for deferral hedge accounting, the gains or losses on 
changes in fair value are deferred as a component of net assets 
and the underlying hedged items translated using the 
corresponding forward exchange contract rate (“Allocation 
method”).

(k) Leases —
Noncancellable lease transactions that transfer substantially all 
the risks and rewards associated with the ownership of assets 
are accounted for as finance leases. All other lease transactions 
are accounted for as operating leases and the related payments 
are charged to income as incurred.

Depreciation of leased assets is computed by the straight-line 
method over the lease term with zero residual value.

(l)  Foreign currency translation —
All monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies, whether current or noncurrent, are translated into 
Japanese yen at the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet 
date. Differences arising from such translation are included in 
the consolidated statement of income.

Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated into 
Japanese yen at the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet 
date. Net assets are translated into Japanese yen at the 
historical rate, and profit and loss accounts for the year are 
translated using the average exchange rate during the year.

Differences in yen amounts arising from the use of different 
rates are presented as foreign currency translation adjustments 
as a separate component of net assets.

(m) Income taxes —
Income taxes payable, which include corporation, enterprise, 
and inhabitant taxes, are stated at the estimated amount 
payable. The asset and liability approach is used to recognize 
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax 
consequences of temporary differences between the carrying 

amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities.

(n) Consumption taxes —
In Japan, the consumption tax system is designed so that all 
goods and services are subject to 8% flat-rate taxation unless a 
special tax rate is provided. Transactions subject to 
consumption taxes are recorded at amounts exclusive of 
consumption taxes.

(o) Appropriation of retained earnings —
The Corporation Law of Japan (the “Law”) requires 
appropriations of retained earnings to be approved by the 
shareholders at the ordinary general meeting. Therefore, 
appropriations of retained earnings are not reflected in the 
consolidated financial statements in the period to which they 
relate, but are recorded in the subsequent accounting period 
after shareholder approval is obtained.

The Company’s retained earnings mainly consist of 
unappropriated retained earnings and a legal reserve as 
required by the Law. The Law provides that an amount equal 
to 10% of distributions from unappropriated retained earnings 
paid by the Company and its subsidiaries in Japan be 
appropriated to the legal reserve or the capital surplus until the 
total amount of capital surplus and the legal reserve equals 
25% of their respective stated capital.

(p) Per share information —
Net income per share is based on the weighted-average 
number of shares of capital stock outstanding during the year. 
Net assets per share are based on the number of shares of 
capital stock outstanding at the end of the year. The cash 
dividends per share are calculated based on the dividends 
declared attributable to the year.

(q) Asset retirement obligations —
An asset retirement obligation is recorded at the time of 
acquisition or construction of a tangible non-current asset if 
there is a statutory or similar obligation associated with the 
removal of such tangible non-current asset. The asset 
retirement obligation is measured at the discounted value of 
the liability at the time the tangible non-current asset is 
acquired or constructed, and the amount of the liability is 
added to the book value of the relevant tangible non-current 
asset. The cost component of the obligation is depreciated over 
the remaining useful life of the tangible non-current asset.

(r) Accounting Changes —
Effective from the year ended March 31, 2016, the Company 
has applied the “Revised Accounting Standard for Business 
Combinations” (ASBJ Statement No. 21, September 13, 2013, 
hereinafter referred to as the “Business Combinations 
Accounting Standard”), the “Revised Accounting Standard for 
Consolidated Financial Statements” (ASBJ Statement No. 22, 
September 13, 2013, hereinafter referred to as the 
“Consolidated Financial Statements Accounting Standard”), 
and the “Revised Accounting Standard for Business 
Divestitures” (ASBJ Statement No. 7, September 13, 2013, 
hereinafter referred to as the “Business Divestitures 
Accounting Standard”). Accordingly, the accounting methods 
have been changed to record the difference arising from 
changes in the Company’s equity in subsidiaries over which 
the Company retains control as capital surplus and to record 
acquisition-related costs as expenses  when they are incurred. 
In addition, for business combinations occurring on or after 
April 1, 2015, adjustments to the allocation of acquisition cost 
resulting from the finalization of the provisional accounting 
treatment are reflected in the consolidated financial statements 
for the year in which the business combination date is 
included. Furthermore, the method of presenting net income 
and other related items has been changed, and the presentation 
of minority interests has been changed to non-controlling 
interests. To reflect these changes in presentation, the Company 
has reclassified the consolidated financial statements for the 
previous year.

11

010_0334001372809.indd   11 2016/11/02   2:46:22



The Business Combinations Accounting Standard and other 
standards have been applied in accordance with the 
transitional treatments stipulated in Paragraph 58-2 (3) of the 
Business Combinations Accounting Standard, Paragraph 44-5 
(3) of the Consolidated Financial Statements Accounting 
Standard, and Paragraph 57-4 (3) of the Business Divestitures 
Accounting Standard, and the amount of the cumulative effect 
of retroactively applying the new accounting policies to all the 
previous years has been added to or deducted from capital 
surplus and retained earnings as of the beginning of the year 
ended March 31,2016.

As a result, as of April 1, 2015, goodwill and capital surplus 
decreased by ¥861 million ($7,645 thousand) and ¥1,241 million 
($11,019 thousand), respectively, while retained earnings 
increased by ¥379 million ($3,365 million). In addition, for the 
year ended March 31, 2016, operating income, ordinary income 
and profit before income taxes increased by ¥117 million 
($1,038 thousand), respectively.

In the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 
March 31, 2016, cash flows relating to purchase or sale of 
shares of subsidiaries, not resulting in a change in scope of 
consolidation, are recorded under “cash flows from financing 
activities.” Cash flows related to acquisition-related costs 
arising from acquisition of shares of subsidiaries, resulting in a 
change in scope of consolidation, or cash flows related to the 
costs arising from purchase or sale of shares of subsidiaries, not 
resulting in a change in scope of consolidation, are recorded 
under “cash flows from operating activities.”

As a result of reflecting the cumulative effect of the above 
changes in net assets at the beginning of the year ended March 
31,2016, in the consolidated statement of changes in net assets , 
the balance of capital surplus decreased by ¥1,241 million 
($11,019 thousand) and the balance of retained earnings 
increased by ¥379 million ($3,365 thousand) at the beginning of 
the year ended March 31,2016.

The impact of the above changes on per share information is 
stated in the relevant section.

(s) Accounting Standards Issued but Not Yet Adopted —
•  “Revised Implementation Guidance on Recoverability of 

Deferred Tax Assets” (ASBJ Guidance No. 26, March 28, 
2016)

(1) Overview
With regard to the treatment of the recoverability of deferred 
tax assets, necessary reconsideration on the following 
treatments have been made, basically following the framework 
of the “Audit Treatment on Determining the Recoverability of 
Deferred Tax Assets” (Report No. 66, the Audit Committee of 
the Japanese Institute of Certified Public Accountants), in 
which companies are classified into five categories and the 
amount of deferred tax assets is estimated according to such 
categories.
(i) Treatment of companies that do not fulfill any of the 

requirements for Category 1 through Category 5

(ii) Requirements for Category 2 and Category 3

(iii) Treatment related to deductible temporary differences that 
cannot be scheduled at companies that qualify as Category 
2

(iv) Treatment related to the period in which taxable income 
before addition or deduction of temporary differences, etc. 
can be reasonably estimated at companies that qualify as 
Category 3

(v) Treatment in cases where companies that fulfill the 
requirements for Category 4 qualify as Category 2 and 
Category 3

(2) Scheduled date of adoption
The Company expects to apply this revised guidance from 
April 1, 2016.

(3) Impact of applying the revised accounting standards
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the 
application of the “Revised Implementation Guidance on 
Recoverability of Deferred Tax Assets” on its consolidated 
financial statements.

3. Additional Information:
The Company has commenced providing treasury stock to the 
Employee Shareholding Association through a trust in order to 
enhance employees’ welfare and grant incentives to improve 
the corporate value of the Company. 
(1) Transaction summary
This is an incentive plan to enable all eligible employees in the 
shareholding association to benefit from an appreciation in the 
Company’s stock price.

Under the Plan, the Company has entered into a Stock Benefit 
Trust Agreement (“the Trust Agreement”) with the Company 
as the trustor and Mizuho Trust & Banking Co., Ltd. as the 
trustee. Hereinafter, the trust established pursuant to the Trust 
Agreement is referred to as “the Trust.” Mizuho Trust & 
Banking Co., Ltd. then entered into an agreement with the 
Trust & Custody Services Bank, Ltd. to re-entrust the 
administration of trust assets, such as securities, with the Trust 
& Custody Services Bank, Ltd. (“the Trust E Account”) as the 
re-entrustee.

The Trust Account E will acquire the number of the Company’s 
shares that the Employee Shareholding Association is expected 
to purchase over the five years after “the Trust” was 
established, and sell the stock to the Employee Shareholding 
Association upon its acquisition of shares. If any residual assets 
on net gains on the sale of shares to the Employee 
Shareholding Association by the Trust Account E accumulate 
within the trust assets of the Trust by the end of the trust 
period, these will be distributed to members of the association 
meeting the beneficiary requirements. The Company will act as 
guarantor for the borrowings undertaken by the trustee to 
purchase the Company’s shares, and will repay any 
outstanding portion of the loan if a decrease in the market 
price of the Company’s shares means that there are remaining 
liabilities equivalent to any loss on the sale of the shares at the 
time of the termination of the Trust.

(2) Stock held by the Trust
The book value (excluding incidental expenses) of the 
Company’s shares held by the Trust is included in treasury 
stock under net assets in the consolidated balance sheet.
As of March 31, 2015, the Trust held 134 thousand shares with a 
book value of ¥368 million. As of March 31, 2016, the Trust held 
103 thousand shares with a book value of ¥284 million ($3,066 
thousand).

(3)  Book value of borrowings calculated based on gross price 
method

A liability of ¥357 million was recognized as of March 31, 2015.
A liability of ¥250 million ($2,226 thousand) was recognized as 
of March 31, 2016.

4. U.S. Dollar Amounts:
U.S. dollar amounts are presented in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements solely for the convenience of 
readers outside Japan. The rate of ¥112.62=U.S. $1, the 
approximate rate prevailing as of March 31, 2016, has been 
used for the purpose of translating yen amounts into U.S. 
dollars. These translations should not be construed as a 
representation that the amounts shown could be converted into 
U.S. dollars at this or any other rate. 
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5. Financial Instruments:
Overview
(1) Policy for financial instruments
The Group manage temporary cash surpluses through low-risk 
financial assets and raise funds through bank loans and bonds. 
Derivatives are utilized solely to reduce risks mentioned below, 
and the Group do not use them for speculation.

(2)  Types of financial instruments, related risks and risk 
management

Notes and accounts receivable-trade are exposed to credit risk 
in relation to customers. In accordance with the Company’s 
credit management policies, the Company monitors due dates 
and outstanding balances by individual customer. In addition, 
the Company makes efforts to identify and mitigate the risk of 
bad debts from customers who have financial difficulties by 
monitoring the credit worthiness of main customers 
periodically.

Investment securities are exposed to market risk, but they are 
mostly common shares of other companies with which the 
Group have business relationships, and the fair market values 
are reported to the Board of Directors on a regular basis.

All notes payable and accounts payable-trade are due within 
one year.

The Group raise necessary funds for operations and capital 
investments through loans, bonds and convertible bond-type 
bonds with subscription rights to shares , and the maturity 
dates are up to 10 years from the balance sheet date. Several of 
these are related to import transactions and are exposed to 
foreign currency exchange risk, and the Group principally 
hedge such risk by using forward foreign exchange contracts.

Regarding derivatives, the Group enter into forward foreign 
exchange contracts to reduce the foreign currency exchange 
risk arising from import transactions and certain short-term 
loans payable. Information regarding the method of hedge 
accounting, hedging instruments and hedged items, hedging 
policy, and the assessment of the effectiveness of hedging 
activities is found in “(j) Hedge accounting” in Note 2, 
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.” In conducting 
and managing derivative transactions, the department in 
charge of finance and accounting follows the internal rules 
approved by the Board of Directors. Monthly reports including 
actual transaction data are submitted to top management for 
its review. There is little risk of default by counterparties to 
these transactions because the Group deal with only highly 
rated financial institutions.

Operating payables and loans are exposed to liquidity risk. The 
finance department of the Company makes funding plans 
based on reports from subsidiaries and associates to manage 
the liquidity risk.

(3)  Supplementary explanation of the estimated fair value of 
financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is based on their quoted 
market price, if available. Since various assumptions and 
factors are reflected in estimating the fair value, different 
assumptions and factors could result in a different fair value. 
In addition, the notional amounts of derivatives in Note 8, 
“Derivative Transactions” are not necessarily indicative of the 
actual market risk involved in derivative transactions.

Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Carrying amount of financial instruments on the consolidated 
balance sheet as of March 31, 2015 and 2016 and estimated fair 
value are shown in the following table. The financial 
instruments for which it is extremely difficult to determine the 
fair value are not included in the following table. (Please refer 
to Note 2 below.)

Millions of yen
2015

Assets and liabilities
Carrying 
amount

Estimated
fair value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits  ¥10,336 ¥10,336 ¥  —
(2) Notes and accounts  

receivable-trade  27,567 27,567 —

(3) Investment securities  
Other securities  3,741 3,741 —

Total assets  ¥41,645 ¥41,645 ¥  —

(1)  Notes and accounts  
payable-trade  ¥14,716 ¥14,716 ¥  —

(2) Short-term loans payable  18,786 18,786 —
(3) Long-term loans payable  

(including current portion)  25,746 25,541 205
(4) Bonds payable  

(including current portion)  3,400 3,393 6
(5) Convertible bond-type bonds with 

subscription rights to shares  4,000 4,074 (74)
Total liabilities  ¥66,649 ¥66,511 ¥138

Derivative transactions(*)
(1) Hedge accounting not applied  ¥    — ¥    — ¥  —
(2) Hedge accounting applied  26 26 —

Total derivative transactions  ¥  26  ¥  26 ¥  —

Millions of yen
2016

Assets and liabilities
Carrying 
amount

Estimated
fair value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits  ¥ 12,689 ¥ 12,689 ¥—
(2) Notes and accounts 

receivable-trade  27,274 27,274 —

(3) Investment securities  
Other securities  3,633 3,633 —

Total assets  ¥ 43,597 ¥ 43,597 ¥—

(1)  Notes and accounts  
payable-trade  ¥ 12,889 ¥ 12,889 ¥—

(2) Short-term loans payable  9,885 9,885 —
(3) Long-term loans payable  

(including current portion)  25,018 24,946 71
(4) Bonds payable  

(including current portion)  4,400 4,383 16
(5) Convertible bond-type bonds with 

subscription rights to shares  4,000 4,030 (30)
Total liabilities  ¥ 56,193 ¥ 56,135 ¥57

Derivative transactions(*)
(1) Hedge accounting not applied  ¥ — ¥ — ¥—
(2) Hedge accounting applied  (55) (55) —

Total derivative transactions  ¥ (55) ¥ (55) ¥—
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Thousands of U.S. dollars 
2016

Assets and liabilities
Carrying 
amount

Estimated
fair value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits  $ 112,673 $ 112,673 $ —
(2) Notes and accounts 

receivable-trade  242,182 242,182 —

(3) Investment securities  
Other securities  32,260 32,260 —

Total assets  $ 387,116 $ 387,116 $ —

(1) Notes and accounts  
payable-trade  $ 114,450 $ 114,450 $ —

(2) Short-term loans payable  87,776 87,776 —
(3) Long-term loans payable  

(including current portion)  222,147 221,513 633
(4) Bonds payable  

(including current portion)  39,069 38,922 146
(5) Convertible bond-type bonds with 

subscription rights to shares  35,517 35,784 (266)
Total liabilities  $ 498,961 $ 498,447 $ 514

Derivative transactions(*)
(1) Hedge accounting not applied  $ — $ — $ —
(2) Hedge accounting applied  (491) (491) —

Total derivative transactions  $ (491) $ (491) $ —

(*) The value of assets and liabilities arising from derivative 
transactions is shown at  net value.

Notes:
1.  Methods to determine the estimated fair value of financial 

instruments and other matters related to securities and 
derivative transactions
Assets
(1)  Cash and deposits and (2) Notes and accounts receivable-

trade
Since these items are settled in a short period of time, 
their carrying amount approximates fair value.

(3) Investment securities
The fair value of stocks is based on quoted market prices.
In addition, please refer to Note 7, “Investment 
Securities” for information on securities classified by 
holding purpose.

Liabilities      
(1)  Notes and accounts payable-trade and (2)Short-term 

loans payable
Since these items are settled in a short period of time, 
their carrying amount approximates fair value.

(3) Long-term loans payable (including current portion)
The fair value of long-term loans payable is based on the 
present value of the total of principal and interest 
discounted by the interest rate to be applied if similar 
new loans were entered into. 

(4)  Bonds payable (including current portion) and (5)
Convertible bond-type bonds with subscription rights to 
shares
The fair value of bonds is based on the present value of 
the total of principal and interest discounted by an 
interest rate determined taking into account the 
remaining period of each bond and current credit risk.

Derivative transactions
Please refer to Note 8, “Derivative Transactions.”

2.  Financial instruments for which it is extremely difficult to 
determine the fair value.

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016
Unlisted stocks  ¥   198 ¥   238 $  2,120
Investments in subsidiaries 

and associates  3,942 5,068 45,006
Total  ¥4,140 ¥5,307 $47,126

Because no quoted market price is available and it is 
impossible to estimate the future cash flows and extremely 
difficult to determine the fair value, the above financial 
instruments are not included in “(3) Investment securities”.
Loss on valuation of investments in subsidiaries and associates 
were ¥17 million for the year ended March 31, 2015.

3. Redemption schedule after the balance sheet date

Millions of yen
2015

Due in 
one year 
or less

Due after 
one year 
through 

five years

Due after 
five years 

through ten 
years

Due after 
ten years

Deposits  ¥  9,359 ¥— ¥— ¥—
Notes and accounts receivable-

trade  27,567 — — —
Total  ¥36,926 ¥— ¥— ¥—

Millions of yen
2016

Due in 
one year 
or less

Due after 
one year 
through 

five years

Due after 
five years 

through ten 
years

Due after 
ten years

Deposits  ¥11,743 ¥— ¥— ¥—
Notes and accounts receivable-

trade  27,274 — — —
Total  ¥39,018 ¥— ¥— ¥—

Thousands of U.S. dollars
2016

Due in 
one year 
or less

Due after 
one year 
through 

five years

Due after 
five years 

through ten 
years

Due after 
ten years

Deposits  $104,274 $— $— $—
Notes and accounts receivable-

trade  242,182 — — —
Total  $346,457 $— $— $—

4.  The redemption schedule for long-term loans payable and 
bonds payable is disclosed in Note 9, “Loans Payable and 
Bonds Payable.”

6. Cash and Cash Equivalents:
A reconciliation of “Cash and cash equivalents” in the 
consolidated statement of cash flows and cash and deposits in 
the consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2015 and 2016 is as 
follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Cash and deposits  ¥10,336 ¥12,689 $112,673
Deposits with maturities of 

more than three months  (226) (226) (2,011)

Cash and cash equivalents  ¥10,109 ¥12,462 $110,662
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7. Investment Securities
The acquisition cost, carrying amount (fair value) and gross unrealized gains and losses on securities classified as other securities 
with available fair values at March 31, 2015 and 2016 are as follows:

Millions of yen
2015 2016

Acquisition 
cost

Carrying 
amount

Unrealized 
gains 

(losses)
Acquisition 

cost
Carrying 
amount

Unrealized 
gains 

(losses)
Other securities whose carrying amount 

exceeds their acquisition cost
Stocks  ¥1,659 ¥3,460 ¥1,801 ¥1,754 ¥3,417 ¥1,663
Bonds  — — — — — —
Other  — — — — — —

Total  1,659 3,460 1,801 1,754 3,417 1,663

Other securities whose acquisition cost 
exceeds their carrying amount
Stocks  325 281 (44) 251 215 (35)
Bonds  — — — — — —
Other  — — — — — —

Total  325 281 (44) 251 215 (35)
Total  ¥1,984 ¥3,741 ¥1,756 ¥2,005 ¥3,633 ¥1,627

Thousands of U.S. dollars
2016

Acquisition 
cost

Carrying 
amount

Unrealized 
gains 

(losses)
Securities with unrealized gains

Stocks  $15,576 $30,344 $14,768
Bonds  — — —
Other  — — —

Total  15,576 30,344 14,768

Securities with unrealized losses
Stocks  2,231 1,915 (316)
Bonds  — — —
Other  — — —

Total  2,231 1,915 (316)
Total  $17,807 $32,260 $14,452

Note:  Unlisted stocks are not included in the above table because there are no quoted market prices and it is extremely difficult to 
determine the fair value.

Aggregate realized gains and losses on sales of other securities during the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Proceeds from sales  ¥16 ¥0 $0
Realized gains on sales  1 0 0
Realized losses on sales  — — —

8. Derivative Transactions:
(1) There are no derivative transactions outstanding at March 31, 2015 and 2016 for which hedge accounting has not been applied.
(2)  Summarized below are the notional amounts and the estimated fair value of derivative transactions outstanding at March 31, 

2015 and 2016 for which hedge accounting has been applied.

Millions of yen
2015

Method of hedge 
accounting

Type of 
derivative 

transactions Hedged items

Notional amount

Fair value

Method of 
calculating the fair 

valueTotal
Maturing after

one year

Principle method

Forward foreign 
exchange 
contracts

-U.S. dollars

Import 
transactions 

and short-term 
loans payable ¥6,627 ¥29 ¥26

Price indicated by 
financial 

institutions

Allocation method

Forward foreign 
contracts

-U.S. dollars

Import 
transactions 

and short-term 
loans payable 4,346 — (*) —

Total ¥10,973 ¥29 ¥26 —

15

010_0334001372809.indd   15 2016/11/02   2:46:22



9.  Loans Payable and Bonds Payable:
Long-term loans payable at March 31, 2015 and 2016 consisted 
of the following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016
Loans, principally from banks 

due through 2026, with 
interest rates ranging from 
0.30% to 2.30%:
Secured by collateral  ¥  3,772 ¥  3,197 $  28,395
Unsecured by collateral  21,974 21,820 193,752

25,746 25,017 222,147
Less: portion due within  

one year  (6,637) (8,720) (77,432)

Total long-term loans 
payable  ¥19,108 ¥16,297 $144,714

The maturities of long-term loans payable are summarized as 
follows:

Year ending March 31
Millions
of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017  ¥  8,720 $  77,432
2018  5,872 52,141
2019  4,314 38,314
2020  2,797 24,842
2021 and thereafter  3,312 29,416

¥25,018 $222,147

A summary of assets pledged as collateral for short-term loans 
payable and long-term loans payable at March 31, 2015 and 
2016 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016
Cash and deposits  ¥     66 ¥    66 $     586
Property, plant and equipment  5,806 4,951 43,967
Investment securities  549 468 4,158

Bonds payable at March 31, 2015 and 2016 consisted of the 
following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016
Unsecured bonds due through 

2020, with interest rates 
ranging from 0.37% to 0.50%:

7,400 8,400 74,587
Less: portion due within  

one year  (—) (—) (—)

Total bonds payable  ¥7,400 ¥8,400 $74,587

The maturities of bonds payable are summarized as follows:

Year ending March 31
Millions 
of yen

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2017 ¥     — $       —
2018 3,400 30,190
2019 — —
2020 4,000 35,517
2021 and thereafter 1,000 8,879

¥8,400 $74,587

Millions of yen
2016

Method of hedge 
accounting

Type of 
derivative 

transactions Hedged items

Notional amount

Fair value

Method of 
calculating the fair 

valueTotal
Maturing after

one year

Principle method

Forward foreign 
exchange 
contracts

-U.S. dollars

Import 
transactions 

and short-term 
loans payable ¥3,788 ¥— (¥55)

Price indicated by 
financial 

institutions

Allocation method

Forward foreign  
exchange 
contracts

-U.S. dollars

Import 
transactions 

and short-term 
loans payable 3,371 — (*) —

Total ¥7,159 ¥— (¥55) —

Thousands of U.S. dollars
2016

Method of hedge 
accounting

Type of 
derivative 

transactions Hedged items

Notional amount

Fair value

Method of 
calculating the fair 

valueTotal
Maturing after

one year

Principle method

Forward foreign 
exchange 
contracts

-U.S. dollars

Import 
transactions 

and short-term 
loans payable $33,639 $— ($491)

Price indicated by 
financial 

institutions

Allocation method

Forward foreign 
exchange 
contracts

-U.S. dollars

Import 
transactions 

and short-term 
loans payable 29,934 — (*) —

Total $63,573 $0 ($491) —

(*) The fair value of these derivative transactions is included in the fair value of the hedged short-term loans payable.
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10. Income Taxes:
Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities at 
March 31, 2015 and 2016 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Deferred tax assets:
Tax loss carry forwards ¥ 1,468 ¥ 1,703 $ 15,125
Net defined benefit liability 583 587 5,217
Provision for bonuses 419 423 3,760
Impairment loss on  

non-current assets 391 223 1,985
Tax credit carryforwards 192 156 1,389
Enterprise taxes payable 85 120 1.067
Loss on valuation of 

inventories 68 96 860
Asset retirement obligations 92 89 792
Loss on valuation of 

investment securities 81 77 687
Allowance for doubtful 

accounts 79 75 666
Provision for retirement 

benefits for directors and 
corporate auditors 79 73 655

Accrued social insurance 
expenses 61 62 558

Unrealized profit on sale of 
inventories 67 51 459

Unrealized profit on sale of 
property, plant and 
equipment 39 41 372

Loss on valuation of golf 
membership 25 24 218

Deferred loss on hedging 
instruments — 19 170

Amount exceeding the limit 
of depreciation 15 17 151

Software 8 10 92
Other 46 51 455

3,807 3,906 34,690
Less: valuation allowance  (2,317) (2,459) (21,842)

Total deferred tax assets  1,489 1,446 12,847

Deferred tax liabilities
Valuation difference on 

available-for-sale securities  (495) (460) (4,089)
Undistributed earnings of 

subsidiaries and associates  (127) (232) (2,065)
Asset retirement costs  (29) (25) (228)
Deferred gains or losses on 

hedges  (9) — —
Reserve for advanced 

depreciation of non-current 
assets  (5) (8) (71)

Other  (16) (14) (129)

Total deferred tax liabilities  (684) (741) (6,584)

Net deferred tax assets  ¥    805 ¥    705 $   6,263

The Company and its domestic subsidiaries are subject to a 
number of different taxes based on income, which, in the 
aggregate, resulted in a statutory tax rate of approximately 
33.1%. Income taxes of the foreign consolidated subsidiaries 
are based generally on the tax rates applicable in their 
countries of incorporation.

A reconciliation of the differences between the effective 
statutory tax rate and the effective tax rates reflected in the 
consolidated statement of income for the years ended March 
31, 2015 and 2016 are as follows:

%
2015 2016

Effective statutory tax rate: 35.6 33.1
Add (deduct):

Deferred tax liabilities due to 
retained earnings of 
subsidiaries and associates  3.0 1.9

Decrease in deferred tax assets 
due to  change in tax rate  2.0 0.9

Per capita inhabitants’ tax  1.7 1.5
Non-deductible expenses  1.2 1.0
Amortization of goodwill  1.0 0.1
Valuation allowance  (4.9) 4.5
Equity in earnings of  

associates  (3.2) (7.0)
Other 1.7 (1.0)

Effective tax rates  38.1 35.0

Revision of the Amounts of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities 
due to Changes in Corporate Tax Rate
Following the enactment of the “Act for Partial Revision of the 
Income Tax Act, etc.” and the “Act for Partial Revision of the 
Local Tax Law” in the Diet session on March 29, 2016, the 
effective statutory tax rate used to measure the Company’s 
deferred tax assets and liabilities for the year ended March 31, 
2016 (however, limited to those expected to be reversed on and 
after April 1, 2016) has been changed from 33.1% of the 
previous year to 30.9% for the temporary differences expected 
to be realized or settled during the period from April 1, 2016 to 
March 31, 2018, and to 30.6% for those expected to be collected 
or paid on and after April 1, 2018.

As a result, deferred tax assets (after deducting the amount of 
deferred tax liabilities) decreased by ¥26 million ($238 
thousand) and income taxes deferred arising during the  year 
ended March 31,2016, valuation difference on available for sale 
securities and remeasurements of defined benefit plans 
increased by ¥51 million ($460 thousand), ¥25 million ($223 
thousand) and ¥0 million ($1 thousand), respectively.

11. Retirement Benefits 
The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have either 
funded or unfunded defined benefit plans and/or defined 
contribution plans to provide retirement benefit payments to 
their employees. 

All defined benefit corporate pension plans are funded plans 
and provide a lump-sum payment or annual pension 
calculated based on an employee’s salary and length of service.
All lump-sum payment plans are unfunded plans and provide 
a lump-sum payment also determined based on an employee’s 
salary and length of service.

For the defined benefit corporate pension plans and the 
retirement lump-sum plans offered by certain consolidated 
subsidiaries, the net defined benefit liability and retirement 
benefit expenses are calculated by the simplified method.
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(1)  Defined benefit plans (excluding plans for which the 
simplified method is applied)

The changes in the retirement benefit obligation during the 
years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Retirement benefit obligation at 
beginning of year  ¥1,499 ¥1,609 $14,290
Cumulative effects of changes 

in accounting policies  94 — —
Restated balance  1,594 1,609 14,290

Service cost  100 99 886
Interest cost  13 13 123
Actuarial gain  16 51 459
Retirement benefit paid  (116) (75) (669)

Retirement benefit obligation  
at end of year  ¥1,609 ¥1,699 $15,089

A reconciliation of the unfunded retirement benefit obligation 
and net defined benefit liability recognized in the consolidated 
balance sheet as at March 31, 2015 and 2016 is as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Unfunded retirement benefit 
obligation  ¥1,609 ¥1,699 $15,089

Net liability for retirement 
benefits in the balance sheet  ¥1,609 ¥1,699 $15,089

Net defined benefit liability  ¥1,609 ¥1,699 $15,089
Net liability for retirement 

benefits in the balance sheet  ¥1,609 ¥1,699 $15,089

The components of retirement benefit expenses for the years 
ended March 31, 2015 and 2016 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Service cost  ¥100 ¥99 $   886
Interest cost  13 13 123
Amortization of actuarial loss  (2) 0 6
Other  4 35 319

Retirement benefit expenses for 
defined benefit plans  ¥116 ¥150 $1,335

Actuarial loss (before tax effect) for the years ended March 31, 
2015 and 2016 is as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Actuarial loss  (¥18) (¥51) ($453)

Total  (¥18) (¥51) ($453)

Unrecognized actuarial loss included in accumulated other 
comprehensive income (before tax effect) at March 31, 2015 and 
2016 is as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Unrecognized actuarial loss  ¥3 (¥47) ($424)

Total  ¥3 (¥47) ($424)

The weighted average assumptions used in accounting for the 
above plans were as follows:

Millions of yen

2015 2016

Discount rate  0.8% 0.6%
Expected salary increase rate  2.6% 2.6%

(2)  Defined benefit plans for which the simplified method is 
applied

The changes in the net defined benefit liability calculated using 
the simplified method during the years ended March 31, 2015 
and 2016 is as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Net defined benefit liability  
at beginning of year  ¥208 ¥167 $1,487

Retirement benefit expenses  23 29 263
Retirement benefits paid  (51) (49) (441)
Contributions to the plan  (11) (12) (111)
Other  0 0 0

Net defined benefit liability  
at end of year  ¥167 ¥135 $1,199

A reconciliation of the funded benefit obligation and plan 
assets and net defined benefit liability for retirement benefits 
recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 
2015 is and 2016 as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Funded retirement benefit 
obligation  ¥ 115 ¥ 108 $ 960

Plan assets at fair value  (101) (102) (911)
¥ 14 ¥ 5 $ 48

Unfunded retirement benefit 
obligation  153 129 1,150

Net liability for retirement 
benefits in the balance sheet  ¥ 167 ¥ 135 $ 1,199

Net defined benefit liability  ¥ 167 ¥ 135 $ 1,199
Net liability for retirement 

benefits in the balance sheet  ¥ 167 ¥ 135 $ 1,199

Retirement benefit expenses for the years ended March 31, 
2015 and 2016 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Retirement benefit expenses 
calculated by the simplified 
method  ¥23 ¥29 $261

(3) Defined contribution plan

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Contributions to defined 
contribution plans made by 
the Company and its 
consolidated subsidiaries  ¥380 ¥389 $3,454
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12. Investment Property and Real Estate for 
Rent

The Company and certain consolidated subsidiaries own real 
estate for rent, such as office buildings and land in Tokyo and 
other areas. Net income associated with investment property 
and real estate for rent for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 
2016 was ¥291 million and ¥294 million ($2,611 thousand) (with 
the main rental income recorded as non-operating income, and 
main rent-related expenses recorded as non-operating 
expenses). An impairment loss of ¥4 million ($36 thousand) 
was recorded as an extraordinary loss for the year ended 
March 31, 2016.

The amounts recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at 
March 31, 2015 and 2016, the fair values, calculation method, 
and the major changes during the year are as follows:

Millions of yen

2015

Carrying amount

Balance at 
beginning of 
year

Increase 
(decrease) 
during the year

Balance at end 
of year

Fair value

¥3,758 (¥216) ¥3,541 ¥6,932

Millions of yen

2016

Carrying amount

Balance at 
beginning of 
year

Increase 
(decrease) 
during the year

Balance at end 
of year

Fair value

¥3,541 (¥596) ¥2,945 ¥7,295

Thousands of U.S. dollars

2016

Carrying amount

Balance at 
beginning of 
year

Increase 
(decrease) 
during the year

Balance at end 
of year

Fair value

$31,449 ($5,297) $26,152 $64,784

Notes: 
1.  The carrying amount represents the acquisition cost less 

accumulated depreciation and cumulative impairment loss.
2.  Major changes
 For the year ended March 31, 2015: 
 Decrease resulting from depreciation: ¥103 million ($865 

thousand)
 Decrease resulting from sale of real estate for rent: ¥95 

million ($792 thousand)
 Decrease resulting from impairment loss: ¥47 million ($398 

thousand)
 For the year ended March 31, 2016: 
 Decrease resulting from sale of real estate for rent: ¥445 

million ($3,954 thousand)
 Decrease resulting from depreciation: ¥99 million ($882 

thousand)
 Decrease resulting sale of real estate: ¥62 million ($558 

thousand)
 Decrease resulting from impairment loss: ¥4 million ($36 

thousand)
3. The fair values as of the end of the year are based on real-

estate appraisals reports by external real estate appraisers. 
 In case where no substantial changes have occurred in 

appraisal value or indices that are considered to accurately 
reflect market price since the acquisition or the most recent 
appraisal, some of the amount were adjusted based on the 
appraisal values or the indices.

13. Cost of Sales:
The amount of the devaluation on inventories incurred for the 
years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016 were a loss of ¥385 
million and a gain of ¥130 million ($1,159 thousand), 
respectively, and were included in cost of sales.

14. Selling, General and Administrative 
Expenses:

The major components of selling, general and administrative 
expenses for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016 are as 
follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Salaries  ¥5,860 ¥5,961 $52,932
Freightage expenses  3,843 4,225 37,522
Provision for bonuses  776 782 6,943
Retirement benefit expenses  329 360 3,201
Provision of allowance for 

doubtful accounts  — 9 81

The aggregate amounts of research and development expenses 
included in selling, general and administrative expenses for the 
years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016 were ¥40 million and ¥34 
million ($303 thousand), respectively.

15. Leases:
Finance leases for which the lessor retains ownership of the 
leased assets are capitalized. 

Future lease payments for non-cancelable operating leases as a 
lessee at March 31, 2015 and 2016 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Future lease payments  
Due within one year  ¥  78 ¥146 $1,300
Due over one year  212 392 3,484

Total  ¥290 ¥538 $4,785
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16. Impairment Loss on Non-current Assets:
For the year ended March 31, 2015, the Group recognized 
impairment loss on the following groups of assets.

Use Category Location Impairment loss
Millions of yen

Office Buildings and Starzen Sales Co, Ltd. ¥  75
   structures, etc. Nakayama-machi 

Higashimurayama-gun
Yamagata, Japan

Cowshed Land, etc. Sannohe Meat 42
   etc. Center Co., Ltd.

Sannohe-gun,
Sannohe-machi,
Aomori, Japan

Rental Land Zenchiku Sales 40
   Apartment, Co., Ltd.
   etc. Taito-ku,

Tokyo, Japan
Office Buildings and Starzen Sales Co, Ltd. 15

   structures, etc. Akita-shi
Akita, Japan

Office Land System Service 13
Center Co, Ltd.

Chuo-ku,
Tokyo, Japan

Idle asset Land Starzen Co., Ltd. 1
Hanamaki-shi,

Iwate, Japan

Total ¥188

The Group’s assets are grouped based on management accounting 
segments. However, assets for rental and idle assets are assessed 
individually. 

For the year ended March 31, 2015, the Group recognized impairment 
losses on non-current assets of ¥188 million in total as extraordinary 
loss. The impairment loss consisted of losses on Land of ¥88 million, 
buildings and structures of ¥64 million, leased assets of ¥4 million, 
machinery, equipment and vehicles of ¥2 million, and other non-
current assets of ¥29 million. The recoverable value of operating assets 
was the larger of their net selling value or value in use. Net selling 
value was calculated by making reasonable adjustments to the real 
estate appraisal value or the tax assessments of non-current assets. The 
value in use was determined by discounting future cash flows 
applying a discount rate of 2.35%.

For the year ended March 31, 2016, the Group recognized impairment 
loss on the following groups of assets.

Use Category Location Impairment loss

Millions 
of yen

Thousands
of U.S.
dollars

Idle asset Land Starzen Meat ¥3 $28
Processor Co, Ltd.

Ebetsu-shi,
Hokkaido, Japan

Idle asset Land Starzen Co, Ltd. 0 8
Hanamaki-shi,

Iwate, Japan
Total ¥4 $36

The Group’s assets are grouped based on management 
accounting segments. However, assets for rental and idle assets 
are assessed individually.

For the year ended March 31, 2016, idle assets whose quoted 
land prices dropped less than the book value were reduced to 
the recoverable value and impairment loss of ¥4 million ($36 
thousand) was recognized as extraordinary loss. The 
recoverable value of idle assets was calculated based on their 
net selling value by making reasonable adjustments to tax 
assessments of non-current assets.

17. Contingent Liabilities:
Contingent liabilities for loans guaranteed at March 31, 2015 
and 2016 were ¥4,772 million and ¥4,136 million ($36,726 
thousand), respectively.

18. Loan Commitment Agreements:
Borrower
To contribute to effective liquidity management, the Company 
entered into contracts for overdraft and commitment lines with 
banks. These contracts at March 31, 2015 and 2016 are 
summarized as follows:

Millions
of yen

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Limit of overdraft and loan 
commitment ¥43,390 ¥43,390 $394,157

Used portion of credit line 14,336 6,416 56,970
Unused portion of credit line ¥29,054 ¥37,974 $337,187
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19. Supplementary Information on Consolidated Statement of Changes in Net Assets
(a) Type and number of outstanding shares

For the year ended March 31,2015
Number of shares

  Type of shares

Balance at 
beginning 

of year
Increase

during the year
Decrease

during the year
Balance at
end of year

Shares issued:
Common stock 87,759,216 — — 87,759,216

Treasury stock:
Common stock 7,831,398 33,919 305,950 7,559,367

Treasury stock increased by 33,919 shares due to the following reasons:
Increase resulting from repurchase of shares less than one unit: 33,919 shares
Treasury stock decreased by 305,950 shares due to the following reasons:
Decrease resulting from the sale of shares less than one unit: 4,950 shares
Decrease resulting from the sale of shares from Trust Account E to Employee Shareholding Association: 301,000 shares

For the year ended March 31,2016
Number of shares

  Type of shares

Balance at 
beginning 

of year
Increase

during the year
Decrease

during the year
Balance at 
end of year

Shares issued:
Common stock 87,759,216 — 78,983,295 8,775,921

Treasury stock:
Common stock 7,559,367 12,985 6,842,685 729,667

Shares issued stock integrated 10 shares into 1 shares at October 1, 2015.
Shares issued stock decreased by 78,983,295 shares was caused by stock consolidation.
Treasury stock increased by 12,985 shares due to the following reasons: 

Increase resulting from shares issued stock integrated: 2,212 shares
Increase resulting from repurchase of shares less than one unit: 10,773 shares

Treasury stock decreased by 6,842,685 shares due to the following reasons:
Decrease resulting from shares issued stock integrated: 5,605,390 shares
Decrease resulting from the sale of shares less than one unit: 595 shares
Decrease resulting of Trust Account E from shares issued stock integrated: 1,058,400 shares
Decrease resulting from the sale of shares from Trust Account E to Employee Shareholding Association: 178,300 shares

(b) Dividends
(1) Dividends paid to shareholders

For the year ended March 31, 2015:

Date of
approval

Resolution 
approved by

Type of
shares

Amount
(Millions
of yen)

Amount 
per share

(Yen)

Shareholders’ 
cut-off date

Effective 
date

June 27, 
2014

Annual
general meeting 
of shareholders

Common 
shares ¥570 ¥7.00 March 31,

2014
June 30,

2014

For the year ended March 31, 2016:

Date of
approval

Resolution 
approved by

Type of
shares

Amount
(Millions
of yen)

Amount
(Thousands of 
U.S. dollars)

Amount per 
share
(Yen)

Amount 
per share

(U.S. dollars)

Shareholders’ 
cut-off date

Effective 
date

June 26, 
2015

Annual
general meeting 
of shareholders

Common 
shares ¥652 $5,792 ¥8.00 $0.71 March 31,

2015
June 29,

2015

(2)  Dividends with a shareholders’ cut-off date during the current year but an effective date subsequent to the current year
For the year ended March 31, 2015

Date of
approval

Resolution 
approved by

Type of
shares

Amount
(Millions
of yen)

Amount 
per share

(Yen)

Shareholders’ 
cut-off date

Effective 
date

June 26, 
2015

Annual
general meeting 
of shareholders

Common 
shares ¥652 ¥8.00 March 31,

2015
June 29,

2015

Note:  The dividends with a shareholders’ cut-off date of March 31, 2015 includes dividends of ¥10 million on treasury stock held 
by the Company through Trust Account E.
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For the year ended March 31, 2016:

Date of
approval

Resolution 
approved by

Type of
shares

Amount
(Millions
of yen)

Amount
(Thousands of 
U.S. dollars)

Amount 
per share

(Yen)

Amount 
per share

(U.S. dollars)

Shareholders’ 
cut-off date

Effective 
date

June 29, 
2016

Annual
general meeting 
of shareholders

Common 
shares ¥733 $6,512 ¥90.00 $0.79 March 31,

2016
June 30,

2016

Note:  The dividends with a shareholders’ cut-off date of March 31, 2016 includes dividends of ¥9 million ($95 thousand) on 
treasury stock held by the Company through Trust Account E.

20. Amounts Per Share
The computation of basic net income per share is based on the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding 
during each period.

Net assets per share are based on the number of shares outstanding at the respective balance sheet dates.

Cash dividends per share represent the cash dividends declared as applicable to the respective year.
Yen U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Per share of common stock:
Net assets  ¥4,098.25 ¥4,337.11 $38.51
Net income – basic  353.75 472.51 4.19
Net income – diluted  350.53 425.73 3.78
Cash dividends  80.00 90.00 0.79

A share consolidation was implemented on common stock with a ratio of ten shares to one share on October 1, 2015. According to 
the share consolidation, we calculated net assets , net income – basic, diluted net income per share.

Effective from the year ended March 31, 2016, the Company has applied the “Revised Accounting Standard for Business 
Combinations” (ASBJ Statement No. 21, September 13, 2013). Therefore, net assets per share decreased by ¥92.47 ($0.82). Basic net 
income per share increased by ¥14.62 ($0.12). Diluted net income per share increased by ¥13.18 ($0.11).

21. Segment Information:
The disclosure of segment information is omitted because the Group primarily operate their business in one industry, the meat 
business in Japan, which includes breeding, processing, manufacturing and sale, and the only reportable segment is the “meat 
business.”

(Related information)
Information on products and services is as follows:
For the year ended March 31, 2015:

Meat Processed 
Meat

Ham and 
Sausage Other Total

Sales to external customers (Millions of  yen) ¥230,678 ¥35,229 ¥11,785 ¥4,882 ¥282,575

For the year ended March 31, 2016:

Meat Processed 
Meat

Ham and 
Sausage Other Total

Sales to external customers (Millions of yen) ¥247,663 ¥37,910 ¥13,030 ¥4,798 ¥303,402
Sales to external customers (Thousands of U.S. dollars) $2,199,106 $336,623 $115,703 $42,604 $2,694,038

Geographical information
The disclosure is omitted because sales in Japan accounted for over 90% of net sales on the consolidated statement of income and 
non-current assets in Japan accounted for over 90% of non-current assets on the consolidated balance sheet.

Information on significant customers
The disclosure is omitted because there was no external customer to whom sales accounted for over 10% of net sales on the 
consolidated statement of income.

Impairment loss on non-current assets by reportable segment is summarized as follows:
For the year ended March 31, 2015:

Meat 
business

Reportable 
segment total

Other 
businesses

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations
Total

Millions of yen ¥175 ¥175 ¥13 — ¥188
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For the year ended March 31, 2016:

Meat 
business

Reportable 
segment total

Other 
businesses

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations
Total

Millions of yen ¥4 ¥4 — — ¥4
Thousands of U.S. dollars $36 $36 — — $36

Amortization and balance of goodwill by reportable segment are as follows:
As of and for the year ended March 31, 2015:

Meat 
business

Reportable 
segment total

(Millions of yen)

Other
businesses

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations
Total

Amortization ¥118 ¥118 ¥12 — ¥130
Balance as of March 31 861 861 80 — ¥941

As of and for the year ended March 31, 2016:

Meat 
business

Reportable 
segment total

(Millions of yen)

Other
businesses

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations
Total

Amortization — — ¥12 — ¥12
Balance as of March 31 — — 67 — ¥67

Meat 
business

Reportable 
segment total
(Thousands of 
U.S. dollars)

Other
businesses

Adjustments 
and 

eliminations
Total

Amortization — — $109 — $109
Balance as of March 31 — — 603 — $603

22. Related Party Transactions:
The material transactions and related balances of the Company with associates and a company for which the Company’s directors 
and their close relatives have the majority of voting rights for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016 are as follows:

Category Name of 
company

Relationship 
with the 
Group

Nature of 
transaction

Millions 
of yen Account Millions 

of yen
2015 2015

Associate

Akune Meat 
Distribution 
Center  Co., 
Ltd.

Business 
consignment

Guarantee of 
obligation ¥1,199 — —

Subsidiary of 
associates

Hachinohe 
farm Co., Ltd. Feeder Guarantee of 

obligation 991 — —

Company for which 
the Company’s 
directors and their 
close relatives have 
the majority of voting 
rights

Kounan shoji 
Co., Ltd. Office rent Office rent 118 Other non-current 

assets ¥72

Category Name of 
company

Relationship 
with the 
Group

Nature of 
transaction

Millions 
of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars Account

Millions 
of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2016 2016

Associate

Akune Meat 
Distribution 
Center Co., 
Ltd.

Business 
consignment

Guarantee of 
obligation ¥1,025 $9,103 — — —

Subsidiary of 
associates

Hachinohe 
farm Co., Ltd. Feeder Guarantee of 

obligation 882 7,836 — — —

Company for which 
the Company’s 
directors and their 
close relatives have 
the majority of voting 
rights

Kounan shoji 
Co., Ltd. Office rent Deposit of 

office rental 117 1,040 Other non-current 
assets ¥72 $643
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The material transactions and related balances of the Company’s consolidated subsidiaries with an associate and companies for 
which the Company’s directors and their close relatives have the majority of voting rights for the year ended March 31, 2015 and 
2016 are as follows:

Category Name of 
company

Relationship 
with the 
Group

Nature of 
transaction

Millions 
of yen Account

Millions 
of yen

2015 2015

Associate Orange Bay 
Foods Co., Ltd. Sales of goods Sale of meat ¥5,179 Accounts

receivable-trade ¥585

Company for which 
the Company’s 
directors and their 
close relatives have 
the majority voting 
rights

Futaba 
Corporation

Import 
clearance,
Storage of 
products,
Office rent, 
Concurrent 
holding of 
positions by 
director

Freight 
forwarder 808 Accounts

payable-other 108

Office rent 35 Other non-current 
assets 13

Daiichi Reizo 
Co., Ltd.

Concurrent 
holding of 
positions by 
director

Warehousing 135 Accounts
payable-other 15

Tokyo Teion 
Reizo Co., 
Ltd.

Concurrent 
holding of 
positions by 
director

Warehousing 14 Accounts
payable-other 1

    

Category Name of 
company

Relationship 
with the 
Group

Nature of 
transaction

Millions 
of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars Account

Millions 
of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2016 2016

Associate Orange Bay 
Foods Co., Ltd. Sales of goods Sale of meat ¥3,143 $27,911 Accounts

receivable-trade ¥204 $1,814

Company for which 
the Company’s 
directors and their 
close relatives have 
the majority voting 
rights

Futaba 
Corporation

Import 
clearance,
Storage of 
products,
Office rent, 
Concurrent 
holding of 
positions by 
director

Freight 
forwarder 723 6,428

Accounts 
Payable-Trade 108 964

Accounts
payable-other 5 51

Office rent 35 314 Other non-current 
assets 13 120

Daiichi Reizo 
Co., Ltd.

Concurrent 
holding of 
positions by 
director

Warehousing 164 1,461

Accounts 
Payable-Trade 6 59

Accounts
payable-other 8 71

Tokyo Teion 
Reizo Co., Ltd.

Concurrent 
holding of 
positions by 
director

Warehousing 16 147 Accounts
payable-other 0 6

Note: Business transactions with related parties are carried out on arm’s-length basis similar to third-party transactions.
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23. Other Comprehensive Income:
The following table presents reclassifications adjustments and 
tax effects allocated to each component of other comprehensive 
income for the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2016:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2015 2016 2016

Valuation difference on available-
for-sale securities 

Amount arising during the year  ¥754 (¥129) ($1,146)
Reclassification adjustments for 

gains and losses included in net 
income  (1) (0) 0

Amount before tax effect  753 (129) (1,146)
Tax effect  (186) 35 312
Valuation difference on available-

for-sale securities  566 (93) (833)

Deferred gains or losses on hedges  
Amount arising during the year  6 (81) (723)
Reclassification adjustments for 

gains and losses included in net 
income  — — —

Amount before tax effect  6 (81) (723)
Tax effect  (1) 9 82
Deferred gains or losses on hedges  4 (72) (641)

Foreign currency translation 
adjustment: — — —

Amount arising during the year  92 (26) (232)
Reclassification adjustments for 

gains and losses included in net 
income  — — —

Amount before tax effect  92 (26) (232)
Tax effect  — — —
Foreign currency translation 

adjustment  92 (26) (232)

Remeasurements of defined 
benefit plans  

Amount arising during the year  (16) (51) (459)
Reclassification adjustments for 

gains and losses included in net 
income  (2) 0 5

Amount before tax effect  (18) (51) (453)
Tax effect  0 1 17
Remeasurements of defined 

benefit plans  (17) (49) (436)

Share of other comprehensive 
income of associates accounted 
for using the equity method:

Amount arising during the year  66 (77) (687)
Reclassification adjustments for 

gains and losses included in net 
income  (1) (9) (82)

Share of other comprehensive 
income of associates accounted 
for using the equity method  64 (86) (770)

Total other comprehensive income  ¥709 (¥328) ($2,914)

24. Subsequent Events:
The Company, at a meeting of the Board of Directors held on 
May 12, 2016, resolved to enter into a capital and business 
alliance with Mitsui & Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as 
“Mitsui”), and to issue new shares through third-party 
allotment and disposal of treasury shares to Mitsui (hereinafter 
collectively referred to as “the Third-party Allotment”), and the 
Company entered into a capital and business alliance 
agreement with Mitsui as of the same date. The disposal of 
treasury shares was executed on May 31, 2016.
1. Capital and business alliance
(1) Name of the counterparty to the agreement

Mitsui & Co., Ltd.

(2) Date of agreement
May 12, 2016

(3) Purpose and reason for the alliance
Upon confirming that the Company’s growth strategies are 
aligned with Mitsui’s medium- to long-term business 
strategies in the livestock-related field and that further 
strengthening the relationship will create significant 
synergies for both companies, the Company decided to 
enter into the capital and business alliance with the aim of 
reinforcing the collaboration with Mitsui in the meat value 
chain from raw material procurement to processing and 
sales in the domestic and overseas meat and meat-
processing business, and of realizing the increased 
corporate value of both companies.

In specific terms, the Company expects to reinforce its 
procurement base and engage in new product development 
by utilizing the global network of Mitsui, as a partner for 
reinforcement of the Company’s overseas business; to 
jointly develop branded meat and increase productivity 
through collaboration in the feed business, the upstream 
segment of the meat business; and to accelerate the 
expansion of the Company’s share in meat sales through 
greater efficiency resulting from collaboration in logistics, 
IT and other indirect divisions. By comprehensively taking 
into account these various factors, the Company has 
determined that the Third-party Allotment would 
contribute to the enhancement of its corporate value.

2.  Issuance of new shares through third-party allotment and 
disposal of treasury shares

(1)  Number of new shares to be issued and number of shares to 
be disposed
Total of (i) and (ii) below: 1,333,300 shares of common stock 
of the Company
(i)  Number of new shares to be issued: 707,000 shares of 

common stock of the Company

(ii)  Number of shares to be disposed: 626,300 shares of 
common stock of the Company

(2)  Price of shares to be issued and disposed: ¥3,191 ($28) per 
share

(3)  Total value of shares to be issued and shares to be disposed: 
¥4,254,560,300 ($37,778,017)

(4)  Amount of increase in capital stock: ¥1,128,018,500 
($10,016,147).

(5)  Method of allotment and disposal: Through a third-party 
allotment

(6)  Payment date: May 31, 2016
(7)  Party to which shares will be allotted and sold: Mitsui & 

Co., Ltd.
(8)  Number of shares to be allotted and disposed: 1,333,300 

shares
(9) Use of funds:

(i) Expansion of meat processing facilities

(ii) Improvement of the efficiency of meat processing plants

(iii) Investments in beef and pork producing farms

(iv) Reinforcement of overseas procurement bases
(10)  Others: Each of the preceding items shall be contingent 

upon the securities registration statement taking effect 
pursuant to the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law 
of Japan.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

The Board of Directors
Starzen Company Limited.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Starzen Company Limited. and its 
consolidated subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2016, and the 
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in net assets, and cash flows for the year 
then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, all expressed 
in Japanese yen.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, and for designing and operating such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. The purpose of an audit of the consolidated financial statements is not to express an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control, but in making these risk assessments the auditor considers internal 
controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of Starzen Company Limited. and its consolidated subsidiaries as at March 
31, 2016, and their consolidated financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in conformity 
with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.

Convenience Translation

We have reviewed the translation of these consolidated financial statements into U.S. dollars, presented for the 
convenience of readers, and, in our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been 
properly translated on the basis described in Note 4.

June 29, 2016
Tokyo, Japan
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Chairman Seiichi Uzurahashi Standing Corporate Auditor Hideki Hojo
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